UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MAINE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V. Criminal No. 05-46-P-S

DAVID C. BOWLES,

Defendant

RECOMMENDED DECISION ON MOTION TO SUPPRESS

David C. Bowles, charged in atwo- count indictment with being afelon in possession of afireerm (a
Mossberg model 500 E .410-gauge shotgun) in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) and making a false
gtatement in connection with the acquisition of that firearmin violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 922(a)(6), movesto
suppress statements he made to federd agents and an identification of him made from a photographic array
in 2003, see generally Indictment (Docket No. 1); Motion To Suppress, etc. (“Motion”) (Docket No. 18).
An evidentiary hearing was held before me on September 9, 2005 at which the defendant appeared with
counsd. | now recommend that thefollowing findings of fact be adopted and that the motion to suppressbe
denied.

|. Proposed Findings of Fact

On February 26, 2003 Christopher Durkin, an agent of the United States Bureau of Alcohoal,
Tobacco, Firearmsand Explosves (“ATF"), met with Paul Cote, manager of Pa s Tradin’ Post (“Pa’s’), a
pawn shop and federally licensed firearms dedler in Oxford, Maine. Cote told Durkin that an individua
named David Bowles had pawned a Mossherg fireearm a Pa's on October 21, 2002 and then had

attempted to reacquire it on November 1, 2002. Cote informed Durkin that on the latter occasion, after



Bowles completed the paperwork required to repossess the firearm— ATF Form 4473 (*Form 4473”) —
Cote ran amandated background check to determine whether Bowles was prohibited from possessing
firearms. Cote told Durkin he determined that Bowles wasso prohibited, whereupon he refused to return
the firearm to im. Cote turned over to Durkin the firearm, aMossberg model 500E .410-gauge shotgun
bearing serid number L811614, as well as copies of paperwork that Cote said Bowles had completed
when he pawned the fireerm and when he attempted to retrieveit. See Gov't Exhs. 1, 5. Both documents
describe the shotgun and provide its serid number; both aso purport to bear Bowles Sgnature. Seeiid.
The Form 4473, in addition, contains among other thingsBowles' Socid Security number and date of birth.
See Gov't Exh. 5.

Following the meeting, Durkin continued hisinvestigetion Heresearched Bowles crimind history
and, withthead of the Socid Security number and other identifiers contained on the Form 4473, acquired
from the Oxford County Jail a photograph of Bowles taken in connection with a previous arrest or
conviction. Hethen enlisted the services of a Lewiston Police Department officer experienced at assambling
photographic arraysto create anarray using the Bowles photograph. Theresultant array contained Sx mug
shots, anong them that of Bowles, arrayed in two rows of three shots each. See Gov't Exh. 2. The
photograph of Bowles, No. 5, is in the center of the bottom row. Seeid. All sx photographs depict
casudly dressed middle-aged Caucasian men with dark or dark-but-graying hair and a moustache and
beard or goatee. See id. Bowles has less hair on top of his head than any of the other men pictured;
however, three other men, Nos. 1, 2 and 6, are balding and/or or have receding harlines. Seeid. The
backdrop to Bowles photograph isthe only onethat isbluish-greenishin color. Seeid. The backdrop to

three of the other photographsis white, while the fourth is tamish-brown and thefifthisawhitish-tan. See



id. The namesof dl sx individuds depicted are printed below a dark black line on the same page asthe
photographs. Seeid.

On March 21, 2003 Durkin returned to Pa’ s with the photographic array. He showed Cote the
aray with the names covered up, dthough hecould not specifically remember whether he covered them by
folding the paper or smply covering the bottom of the page.' He asked Coteif he could identify David
Bowles from the photogrgphic array. Cote said yes. Without hestation, he identified the individua
depicted in photograph No. 5 as David Bowles and as the same person who had pawned the M ossberg
shotgun, attempted to retrieve it and filled out the associated paperwork. Cote struck Durkin as familiar
with Bowles. Bowles himsdf testified that he had met Cote“numeroustimes” had pawned other itemsat
Pa’ s induding toals and had seen Cote once at adifferent venue, an antiquesbarn. Although Cotedid not
himself personally wait on Bowles on every occasion, Bowles said Cote was usudly there?

On June 23, 2003 a casudly dressed Durkin, accompanied by Chris Hatfield, an Auburn Police
Department officer, droveto Bowles home on Bog Brook Loop Road in West Paris, Maine. Durkin and
Hatfidd went to the front door and knocked, whereupon either Bowles or Bowles wife answered, they
identified themsalves and he or she let them in. Durkin introduced himsdlf to Bowles, showed him his

credentids and shook his hand. Hetold Bowleshewasinvestigating an incident that occurred at Palsand

! Durkin testified that shortly before the hearing held in this matter, he had examined the original photographic array,

whichismaintained in ATF sfilesin Portland, Maine, and noted that there was a crease on the dark line separating the
photographs from the names. Hetestified that this suggested he had folded the paper to conceal the names from Cote.

At hearing, counsel for the defendant invited meto find that Durkin was mistaken in testifying that he had concealed the
suspects' names from Cote because it was not “good enough” to say that he concealed them but did not remember how.

| declinethisinvitation. Durkin was clear that hein fact concealed the names. Nothing in evidence suggests otherwise.

2 Bowlestestified that he did not recall whether Cote was at the shop when he pawned the firearm and that Cote was not
there when he went to retrieveit. Inrebuttal, Durkin testified that Cote indicated he dealt with Bowles on both occasions.

Cote also signed the Form 4473 as “ The Person Actually Transferring the Firearm(s).” See Gov't Exh. 5. | credit Durkin's
testimony, which is buttressed by the Form 4473, over that of Bowles with respect to this matter.



wanted to talk to him about it. As per Durkin’s customary practice, he told Bowles he was not going to
arrest him that day but rather wanted to speak with him.

Bowles, Durkin and Hatfidd went outdoors, but it began to rain. The three men then got into
Durkin’sparked car. Durkin took out an ATF Form 3200.4 containing warnings pursuant toMiranda v.
Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), which he read aoud to Bowles® He permitted Bowlestime to read the
form himsdf. Bowles said he had no questions and was willing to spesk to the officers. Durkin watched
him sgn the form in two places— below asentence indicating that he had read hisMiranda rights and had
them read to him and understood them, and below a paragraph titled “WAIVER” gating:

| do not want alawyer at thistime. | understand and know what | am doing. No promises

or threats have [been] made to me and no pressure or force of any kind has been used

agang me. | hereby voluntarily and intentiondly wave my rights, and | amwilling to make

a statement and answer questions.

Gov't Exh. 3. Durkin and Hatfidd dso sgned the form. Seeid. Bowlesthen told the officers that the
firearm belonged to hiswife at the time he pawned it, and he had brought it to be pawned because shewas
too sick to do it. He Stated that he had used the firearm in Arizona about eight years earlier. He aso
indicated he was aware that he had twelve felony convictions, admitting in response to a question that he
was the same David Bowles who had been convicted of two counts of robbery with use of a dangerous

wegpon in Portland in 1985. Durkin took notesand thanked Bowlesfor his cooperation, and then Hatfield

and Durkin departed without effectuating Bowles arrest that day.*

% Per Miranda, an accused must be advised prior to custodial interrogation “that he has the right to remain silent, that
anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presenceof anattorney, and thet if
he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires.” Miranda, 334US
at 478-79. The ATF Form 3200.4 read to Bowles conveystheserights. See Gov't Exh. 3.

* Bowles described his June 23, 2003 meeting with Hatfield and Durkin differently in some respects than did Durkin. For
example, Bowlestestified that after he got into Durkin’s car “he said, more or less, cooperate, and we won't arrest you,
and so | cooperated.” AsBowlesalso putit: “Wewere being kind of buddy-buddy-type thing, you know. That'sthe
gist of what | got out of it. ‘Let usfingerprint you, tell uswhat happened at the pawn shop, whatever, and well diveot
(continued on next page)



Il. Discussion

Bowles seeks suppression of statements and other evidence on two bases: that (i) hiswaiver of his
Miranda rightswasinvoluntary because“the Agent” (presumably Durkin) promised thet the casewould not
be prosecuted and would go away if he would just cooperate, and (ii) the photographic array shown to
Cote was unnecessarily suggestive because of the position of the photograph of Bowles, the Sgnificant
differencein gppearance of the other men depicted, and the presence of Bowles nameat the bottom of the
sheet. See Motion at [3]. | address each point in turn, finding both to be without merit.

A. Voluntariness of Miranda Waiver

The government bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that a purported
Miranda waiver was voluntary, knowing and intdligent. See, e.g., Coloradov. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157,
168 (1986). A waiver isconsdered “voluntary” if it was*the product of afree and ddliberate choicerather
than intimidation, coercion and deception’; it is“knowing and intdligent” if “made with full awareness of
both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consegquences of the decision to abandon.” United
Satesv. Rosario-Diaz, 202 F.3d 54, 69 (1st Cir. 2000) (citations and internd quotation marks omitted).
The question whether a given waiver was voluntary, knowing andintelligent isexamined with referenceto
“the totdity of the circumstances and the facts surrounding the particular case including the background

experience and conduct of the accused.” 1d. (citation and interna quotation marks omitted).

into the sunset and you won't hear from usagain.’ That’swhat | got out of it.” For several reasons, | do not find this
testimony credible. First, | credit Durkin’s testimony that, per his customary practice, he told Bowles that he was not
thereto arrest him that day but rather wanted to talk to him; however, he never promised Bowles hewould not bearrested
if he cooperated. Second, Bowles' descriptions of the conversation were vague, e.g., that the officers“more or less’
promised him leniency, or that such a promise was what Bowles “got out of it.” Third, Bowles' assertion that he
cooperated because he had been promised he would not be arrested is difficult to square with the agents’ administration
of Miranda warnings, in particular the warning that any statement made can be used against asuspectin court or in any
other setting. Bowles admits having received that particular Miranda warning and having signed the ATF Form 3200.4 in
two places while seated with Hatfield and Durkin in the car in hisyard.



Asthe Firgt Circuit has noted, while mental history or state is pertinent to a voluntariness inquiry,
“the precedents till require some degree of coercion or trickery by government agents to render a
gatement involuntary[.]” United Statesv. Santos, 131 F.3d 16, 19 (1st Cir. 1997); seealso, e.g., Ricev.
Cooper, 148 F.3d 747, 750 (7th Cir. 1998) (* A confession or other admission is not deemed coerced or
involuntary merely because it would not have been made had the defendant not been mentally defective or
deranged. The rdevant congtitutiond principlesare amed not a protecting people from themsalves but at
curbing abusive practices by public officers”) (citation omitted).

No evidence was adduced a hearing that Bowles suffered from mental problems or was otherwise
incapable of understanding his rights or the consequences of their waiver —the substance of which Durkin
conveyed to him on the day in question. Moreover, this was not Bowles first encounter with law
enforcement; as a person with acrimina history, he presumably was otherwise familiar with hisMiranda
rights. As noted above, | do not find credible the assertion that Durkin (or Hatfield or both) promised
Bowles he would not be prosecuted if he cooperated. At most, Durkin truthfully stated that he did not
intend to arrest Bowles that day and was there only to talk to him. Such a statement, on itsface, does not
amount to a promise of leniency, let done qudify as a coercive tactic. Indeed, the First Circuit has
guestioned whether even afase promise of leniency can be characterized ascoercive. See United States
v. Byram, 145 F.3d 405, 408 (1<t Cir. 1998) (“[I]t would be very hard to treat as coercion afdse
assurance to a suspect that he was not in danger of prosecution.”) (emphasisin origind). Even assuming
arguendo that Bowles misunderstood Durkin's statements as promises of leniency, such a unilaterd
misunderstanding would not suffice to render his Miranda waiver involuntary: The focus, again, ison
curbing abusive police practices. See, e.g., United Sates v. Male Juvenile, 280 F.3d 1008, 1022-

23 (9th Cir. 2002) (“Without evidence of coercion, the persond characteristics of the defendant are



conditutionally irrdevant. Pierre s misunderstanding about the purposesfor which his statements could be
used did not stem from misrepresentation by the triba investigators and therefore does not, on its own,
condtitute a showing of police coercion sufficient to warrant suppresson of his satements”) (citation
omitted); United Statesv. Rowley, 975 F.2d 1357, 1361 (9th Cir. 1992) (“Although Rowley' s datements
were given in the hope of leniency, they were not given with the promise of leniency, and thus were not
involuntary on that score.”).”

For theforegoing reasons, the government meetsits burden of demongtrating that Bowles waver of
his Miranda rights was voluntary, knowing and intelligent.

B. Admissbility of Photographic Array

Asthe Firg Circuit has made clear:

Pretrid identification evidenceis subject to condtitutiond limitations under the Due Process

Clause. We employ atwo-pronged analyss to determine whether evidence of a pretrid

identification should be suppressed. Firg, the court must determinewhether the procedure

was impermissibly suggedtive. If so, then the court must decide whether the identification

itsdlf was rdliable under the totdity of the circumsances, notwithstanding the suggestive

procedure. Thelikelihood of misidentification must be very strong in order to suppressthe

evidence.
United States v. Lopez-Lopez, 282 F.3d 1, 10-11 (1« Cir. 2002) (citations omitted). The defendant
bearsthe burden of showing that a photographic array wasimpermissbly suggestive. See, e.g., Howardv.
Bouchard, 405 F.3d 459, 469 (6th Cir. 2005); United States v. Martin, 391 F.3d 949, 952 (8th Cir.

2005); United Satesv. Gray, 958 F.2d 9, 14 (1st Cir. 1992). Only if the defendant carriesthat burden

® At hearing, counsel for the defendant stated that he relied on “amodified Seibert analysis” for the proposition that
Miranda warnings were ineffective in this case — areference to Missouri v. Seibert, 124 S Ct. 2601 (2004). Ascounsd for
the government rejoined, Seibert isinapposite. In Seibert, the Supreme Court held that a confession obtained after a
Miranda warning had been given, but only after the defendant had earlier confessed without benefit of the warning under
circumstances in which the warning was required, was not admissible against the defendant. See Seibert, 124 S. Ct. at
2606, 2613. Thereisno evidence in this case that Durkin and Hatfield employed the so-called “ question-first” policy at
(continued on next page)



must the court go on to consider whether theidentification wasreliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness of
the procedure. See, e.g., Martin, 391 F.3d at 952; United Sates v. Beverly, 369 F.3d 516, 538 (6th
Cir. 2004).

In his papers, Bowles argued that the requisite finding of undue suggestivenessshould be madeon
thebasesthat (i) hispicture appearsin the center of the page with anumber Sbelow it (ii) hisnameislisted
next to the number 5 undernegth the array, and (iii) he has substantidly lesshair ontop of hishead thanthe
other people depicted. SeeMoationat [2]. At hearing, hiscounsd additionally contended that thefact that
Bowles photograph was the only one with a blue-green background heightened its suggestiveness.

| havelittle difficulty condluding that Bowles fdls short of making a persuasive case. Asaninitid
matter, | rgect hisassertion that Cote was shown the array with the names of the suspectsvishble. Although
ATF Agent Durkin testified that he did not remember whether he folded the page or covered the bottom to
conced the namesfrom Cote, he testified unequivocdly that he did conced the namesfrom him. | decline
Bowles counsd’sinvitation to Soeculate that, in S0 testifying, Durkin must have been mistaken.

Bowles further contentions regarding the positioning of his photograph at the bottom center of the
aray, itsbluish-green background color and hiscomparative lack of hair arewithout merit. Withrespectto
the pogtioning of Bowles photograph, there is nothing inherently suggestive about its placement in the
center of the bottom of two rows. See, e.g., United Satesv. Carter, 410 F.3d 942, 949 (7th Cir. 2005)
(“[1]f the bottom-center position is an inherently pronounced position as Carter argues, then every photo
array with a suspect pictured in the bottom-center position could be held unduly suggestive. We see no

bassfor sucharule”). Nor isthere anything unduly suggestive about that placement when combined with

issue in Seibert or that Bowles made any confession at all until after he received full Miranda warningsand sgnedaform
(continued on next page)



the differences among the photos on which Bowlesrdies. Asthe government suggests, see Government’s
Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Suppress (Docket No. 20) at 6, the array shown to Cote depicts
bascdly smilar looking persons: to wit, Sx middle-aged men, dl Caucasian, dl with dark or dark-but-
graying hair, dl wearing casud clothing and al sporting amoustache and abeard or goatee, see Gov't Exh.
2. While Bowles hastheleast hair on thetop of hishead, three other men pictured have receding hairlines
and/or are bading. See Gov't Exh. 2. While Bowles photograph is the only one with a bluishgreen
background, two of the other photographs have col ored backgrounds (atannish brown and awnhitightan).
Seeid.

The casdaw is dear that such raively minor differences in photographic backgrounds and/or
physica characteristics do not suffice to render a photographic array impermissibly suggestive. See, e.g.,
United Sates v. Adeniyi, No. 03 CR. 0086(LTS), 2003 WL 21146621, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. May 14,
2003) (“Even if there are some physicd differences, a photo-array will not be suggestive as long asthe
other pictures sufficiently resembled the defendant to dlay any concern that the witnesses might have been
unfairly influenced in their selection of him by any of the noted physicd differences between him and the
others”)(citation and interna punctuation omitted); see also, e.g., United States v. Malveaux, No. 98-
50669, 2000 WL 125917, at *1 (9th Cir. Jan. 18, 2000) (rgjecting defendant’ s contention that array
unduly suggestive because hewas only suspect who was bad and in mid-twenties and his photo was placed
in center of page; concluding that “such insubgantid differences do not in themselves creste an
impermissible suggestion”); United States v. Donaldson, 978 F.2d 381, 384-85, 387 (7th Cir. 1992)

(rgecting defendant’ s assertion that array unduly suggestive because he was only person with receding

indicating he waived his Miranda rights.



harline and only light-skinned black male who was not clean shaven except for mustaches; concluding that
aray contained photos of men of amilar age and appearance); Mitchell v. Goldsmith, 878 F.2d 319,
323 (9th Cir. 1989) (regecting gppel lant’ sargument that array was unduly suggestiveinasmuch as(i) hewas
only person photographed againgt blue background, (ii) four of seven individuds depicted had lighter
complexionsand (iii) hiswas only photo with 1981 date; agreeing with digtrict court that background colors
varied among pictures, dates were not suggestive, and at least two other men in lineup closdy resembled
gopdlant); Adeniyi, 2003 WL 21146621, a *2 (rgecting defendant’s argument that array unduly

suggestive inasmuch, inter alia, as he was only bad person depicted; concluding, “Hairlines, hair length,
and ba dness patterns vary somewhat among the pictures. Defendant’ s picture suggeststhat hishair might
be cut a bit shorter than that of the others, particularly on the sides, but he does not stand out as abad
person in the company of the hirsute. The other individuds depicted, like the Defendant, al have
moustache/goatee facid hair to some degree.”).

In any event, even assuming arguendo that Bowles made the requisite showing that the array in
issue was impermissibly suggestive, | am persuaded that Cote's identification of him nonetheless was
aufficiently reliable to pass congtitutional muster. With respect to this question, five factors are rlevant to
andyss “(1) the opportunity of the witness to view the crimind a the time of the crime; (2) the witness
degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness prior description of the defendant; (4) the level of
certainty demongtrated by the witness at the confrontation; [and] (5) the length of time between the crime
and the confrontation.” United States v. Henderson, 320 F.3d 92, 100 (1st Cir. 2003). “[R]didhility is
the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.” 1d. (citation and interna quotation

marks omitted).
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Inasmuch as (i) Cote had ample opportunity to view Bowles when Bowles pawned the firearm,
attempted to retrieveit and filled out paperwork, (ii) Cote wasin any event familiar with Bowles from past
dedlings, (iii) Cote did not hesitate to pick Bowles out of the lineup and (iv) less than five months el apsed
between Bowles attempted retrievd of the firearm and Cote's identification, the identification was
aufficiently reliable to counsd againg its excluson even if procured by an unduly suggestive photographic
aray. See, e.g., United Statesv. Moore, 115 F.3d 1348, 1360 (7th Cir. 1997) (identification sufficiently
reliable when bank employees observed robbery suspect for severd minuteswhile herequested directions,
paid attention to his appearance, gave detailed descriptions of him following robbery and viewed array
within 9x months of robbery).

[1l. Concluson
For the foregoing reasons, | recommend that the defendant’s motion to suppress evidence be

DENIED.

NOTICE

A party may file objections to those specified portions of a magistrate judge’ s report or
proposed findings or recommended decisions entered pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 636(b)(1)(B) for
which de novo review by the district court is sought, together with a supporting memorandum,
within ten (10) days after being served with a copy thereof. A responsive memorandum shall be
filed within ten (10) days after thefiling of the objection.

Failuretofileatimely objection shall constitute a waiver of theright tode novo reviewby
the district court and to appeal the district court’s order.

Dated this 15th day of September, 2005.

/s David M. Cohen
David M. Cohen
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